I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Christopher Piris, through attorneys Suzanne Lee Elliott and John Rothschild, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part II of this petition.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Piris seeks review of the published opinion filed in *Piris v. Kitching*, No. 71054-1-I, 2015 WL 1030587 (Wash. Ct. App. Mar. 9, 2015). *See* Exhibit 1.

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

In a claim for attorney malpractice, is "actual innocence" relevant if the plaintiff's attorneys erred in calculating the plaintiff's sentencing range, the sentence was overturned on appeal but the plaintiff was not timely resentenced and these errors resulted in the plaintiff serving a sentence that was 13 months longer than the sentence lawfully, but belatedly, imposed on remand?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Christopher Piris pled guilty to first degree rape of a child. The crime was alleged to have occurred when Piris was 13 years old. The

victim was Piris's 10-year-old stepbrother. CP 175-187. Respondent Albert Kitching worked for the Society of Counsel for Accused Persons (SCRAP). He represented Piris in the Superior Court. CP 186, 191. Piris committed the offense while a juvenile, but charges were not filed until after he turned 18. CP 238. At his initial sentencing, defense counsel pointed out that if Piris had been convicted as a juvenile, his standard range would have been "up to 100 weeks" in detention. CP 239. Defense counsel argued that Piris's age at the time of the offense and the delay in reporting constituted mitigating factors. CP 240. The original sentencing judge did not find a basis to go below the standard range. But, after hearing the presentations of the State and defense, the judge said:

What I am going to do, however, is I am going to sentence you to the bottom of the standard range which is...159 months.

CP 69. Unfortunately, the parties miscalculated that sentencing range as 159 to 211 months. CP 45. The correct sentencing range was 146 to 194 months.

Piris appealed. Eric Nielsen of Nielsen, Broman and Koch represented Piris in the Court of Appeals. In the appeal, after persuasively pointing out the error in the standard range, Mr. Nielsen urged a remand for resentencing. He wrote: If the trial court had understood the standard range to be 146 to 194 months, it seems likely that it would have imposed the bottom of the range -146 months.

CP 88.

On February 14, 2000, the Court of Appeals reversed, in a per

curiam opinion, the improperly calculated sentence. CP 193-194. That

opinion states:

Piris asks that his sentence be vacated and the case remanded for resentencing. The State concedes that Piris is entitled to be sentenced under the 1993 statute and agrees the case should be remanded for resentencing. We have reversed the record and find the State's concession is well taken.

CP 194.

Piris's sentence was vacated and the case was remanded for resentencing. According to Piris, he never heard from Nielsen regarding the reversal. His case was never set for resentencing. As a result, Piris served all 159 months.

In May 2012, Piris was summoned to the King County Superior Court for a probation violation. In reviewing the file, the new sentencing judge realized that the sentence had been vacated and Piris had never been resentenced. He then sentenced Piris to 146 months in jail. CP 199. No one appealed or challenged this new sentence.

Piris then sued both his trial and appellate lawyers alleging negligence. CP 151-155.

The lawyers moved for summary judgment on two grounds. First, they argued that Piris could not sue because he cannot "prove his actual innocence of the charges." Second, they argued there was no claim because Piris was sentenced "within the lawful range that could be imposed for the crimes he committed." CP 221-225. The trial court granted the motion stating: "the basis for the dismissal is the 'actual innocence' requirement as set out in *Ang v. Martin*, 154 Wn.2d 477, 483-484, 114 P.3d 637 (2005)." CP 249.

This timely appeal followed. CP 263-64. On March 9, 2015, the Court of Appeals entered a published opinion affirming the trial court. This decision will be discussed in more detail below.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. THE COURT OF APPEALS OPINION IN THIS CASE CONFLICTS WITH THE *POWELL* DECISIONS.¹ RAP 13.4(B)(2).

The "issue of guilt or innocence is relevant, if the client's

complaint is the fact of conviction, rather than the severity of the sentence

or other consequences." 771 R. Mallen & J. Smith, Legal Malpractice §

¹ Powell v. Associated Counsel for Accused (Powell I), 125 Wn. App. 773, 106 P.3d 271, review granted, cause remanded, 155 Wn.2d 1024, 123 P.3d 120 (2005), and Powell v. Associated Counsel for the Accused (Powell II), 131 Wn. App. 810, 129 P.3d 831 (2006) (opinion adhered to on reconsideration different panel of the Court of Appeals).

26.13 (2007 Edition) (emphasis added). But "actual innocence" is "[usually]² not relevant if the attorney's error concerns the extent or severity of the sentence." *Id.* Thus, where, as here, a plaintiff alleges that his attorney's negligence resulted in a sentencing error, he has met his initial burden if he alleges: (i) that defendant's negligence resulted in a legally impermissible sentence, and (ii) that he obtained post-conviction sentencing relief. *Id.*

In, *Powell II*, Division I, sensibly held that an allegation of actual innocence is not required where, as here, plaintiff complains that his attorney's negligence resulted in a sentencing error for which he obtained post-conviction sentencing relief. In that case, the court held that it is sufficient for a plaintiff to allege (i) that his attorney's negligence resulted in a sentencing error and (ii) that plaintiff obtained post-conviction sentencing relief. In so holding, the *Powell II* panel concluded that the policy reason underlying the "actual innocence" requirement is no longer applicable; that is, excusing plaintiff to "profit from the [crime's] commission" because plaintiff is still required to serve the legally warranted sentence. *Powell II*, 131 Wn. App. at 813.

² See fn. 13, Slip Opinion at 14.

More importantly, however, in excusing the actual innocence requirement in *Powell II*, that panel of Division I appropriately focus on the issue of proximate causation, finding that where, as here, an attorney's failure to object to a sentencing enhancement resulted in a higher sentence being imposed on plaintiff, the improper sentence was not the direct result of plaintiff's criminal behavior, but rather, it was the proximate result of his attorney's negligence. *Powell II*, 131 Wn. App. at 813 (finding that where defense attorney's error caused plaintiff to serve longer sentence than warranted, "[t]he harm caused by [plaintiff's] unlawful restraint was not the direct consequence of his own bad act"). In such circumstances, it is appropriate to permit plaintiff to assert a claim for legal malpractice without requiring him to allege actual innocence.

This case is indistinguishable from *Powell I* and *II*. In the *Powell* cases, the Court of Appeals held that because Powell served more than the maximum sentence for the crime he committed, harm caused by his unlawful restraint was not the direct consequence of his own bad act. The harm was caused by his lawyers' failure to properly ascertain the correct sentence.

The same is true here. Piris served the illegal sentence of 159 months. The additional 13 months he served was due, not to his behavior, but to errors committed by his lawyers.

6

In *Powell II*, the Court of Appeals noted that Powell's legal malpractice action did not discount or compete with the procedural protections afforded the criminal justice system. Powell secured his release from unlawful restraint using criminal justice procedures. But the criminal justice system provided him no remedy for the harm suffered by serving eight months longer than the crime required. *Powell II*, 131 Wn. App. at 814.

The same is true here. Piris filed a notice of appeal and his sentence was corrected by the Court of Appeals, Division I. But because of the failures of his attorneys, both in miscalculating his standard range initially and in failing to reset the matter for resentencing once the unlawful sentence was vacated, Piris suffered by serving 13 months longer than his crime required.

In *Powell II*, the court said that Powell's complaint was not that he simply "could have gotten a better deal." *Powell II*, 131 Wn. App. at 814. Powell was entitled to be lawfully sentenced.

The same is true here. Piris was entitled to be lawfully sentenced. The Court of Appeals recognized that illegality when it reversed and remanded Piris's case for a new sentencing hearing.

The negligence in this case, like *Powell II*, was "egregious." Piris served one year more than he should have simply because of his lawyers'

errors. The failure to properly calculate a sentence under the SRA is a not a common oversight. And certainly the failure to set the matter back on the calendar in the trial court after reversal is not a common "oversight." Moreover, errors that result in unlawful incarceration for 13 months beyond that provided for by law are "egregious" under any definition of that term.

B. THE COURT OF APPEALS OPINION CONFLICTS WITH THIS COURT'S OPINION IN *ANG V. MARTIN*

This Court has never considered a claim that rests solely on a claim of sentencing malpractice. But it has considered a claim of pretrial and trial malpractice in a criminal case. *Ang v. Martin*, 154 Wn.2d at 483. Ang makes it clear that the policy reasons for the imposition of actual innocence requirement for trial malpractice, do not apply to sentencing malpractice.

In *Ang*, the plaintiffs hired Martin and he and his co-counsel advised them to enter pleas of guilty. Shortly thereafter, the plaintiffs hired new counsel and successfully withdrew their guilty pleas and were acquitted at the subsequent criminal trial.

After the acquittal the Angs sued Martin and co-counsel. The trial court instructed the jury that the plaintiffs were required to prove that they were more than "not guilty," but rather, actually innocent of the crimes charged. Id at 483. In the special verdict forms, the jury found one lawyer

negligent but also found that the Angs had failed to prove actual

innocence. The Angs appealed.

This Court held that the jury was properly instructed because in order to prove malpractice in a criminal case, the plaintiffs bear the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence each of the following:

First, that there is an attorney-client relationship giving rise to a duty owed by a defendant to a plaintiff; Second, that plaintiffs have obtained a successful challenge to their convictions based on their attorneys failure to adequately defend them; Third, that plaintiff was innocent of the crimes charged; Fourth, that there is an act of omission by a defendant that breached the duty of care of an attorney; Fifth, that a plaintiff was damaged; and Sixth, that a breach of duty by a defendant is a proximate cause of a plaintiffs damages.

Id. This Court held that when it came to determining the "legal cause of that harm, a court may consider, among other things, the public policy implications of holding the defendant liable." *Id.*

Thus, the Court concluded that for policy reasons, unless the plaintiff can establish his or her actual innocence, their guilt will be considered the "cause in fact" of the injury. Those policy reasons included prohibiting criminals from benefiting from their own bad acts, maintaining respect for our criminal justice system's procedural protections, removing the harmful chilling effect on the defense bar, preventing suits from criminals who may be guilty, but argue that they could have gotten a better deal, and preventing a flood of nuisance litigation.

The Court of Appeals conclusion in this case misapplies the policy considerations set forth in *Ang* to the question of sentencing malpractice. The public policy considerations that assign the "cause in fact" to the defendant's criminal conduct simply do not apply to malpractice at sentencing rather than malpractice committed at or before trial. The Court of Appeals got it wrong when it held that it was Piris's own "perfidy" that resulted in both the incorrect sentence and the failure to insure that resentencing took place after the reversal. It was not. It was his lawyer's negligence.

The Court of Appeals fn. 12 is particularly concerning. The footnote states that there is the potential for a flood of criminal malpractice suits because sentencing law is complex. Yet, there is nothing in the record to suggest that there is an epidemic of malpractice in this area. Many areas of legal practice are complex but when lawyers make mistakes in those other areas, their clients are permitted to sue them. And, presumably, there are few cases where an illegal sentence is reversed on appeal because the lawyer did not know the law and where that reversal

10

goes unnoticed by the defendant's trial and appellate lawyers and the trial court for 12 years.

The Court of Appeals opinion actually damages respect for our criminal justice system's procedural protections. Lawyers have a duty to exercise reasonable care to avoid mistakes that damage their clients. It appears that in all other practice areas, plaintiffs whose lawyers commit malpractice are entitled to redress for their injury. But the Court of Appeals concludes that a person who served an unlawful sentence as a result of his lawyer's negligence has no remedy. This kind of unfairness does not inspire confidence.

In truth, the Court of Appeals opinion abandons a central premise of tort liability, the deterrence of unreasonable or negligent behavior, without any rational basis for doing so. There should be disincentives – such as malpractice litigation – for lawyers who fail to maintain competence in their practice area and who fail to properly follow through for their clients. This Court should reject the notion that criminal defendants are never entitled to recover for sentencing malpractice.

VI. CONCLUSION

Under the Court of Appeals opinion, criminal defendants who serve an illegal sentence have no redress for their injury against the person who actually caused the injury. This conclusion is in conflict with other decisions from this Court and the Court of Appeals. And no public policy can justify the result the Court of Appeals reached. For the reasons stated above, review should be granted.