RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON May 01, 2015, 1:29 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

NO. 91567-9

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CHRISTOPHER PIRIS,

Appellant,

VS.

ALFRED KITCHING and JANE DOE KITCHING, husband and wife and their marital community, SOCIETY OF COUNSEL REPRESENTING ACCUSED PERSON (SCRAP), ERIC NIELSEN and JANE DOE NIELSEN, husband and wife and their marital community, NIELSEN BROMAN & KOCH PLLC,

Respondents.

RESPONDENT SCRAP AND AL KITCHING'S ANSWER OPPOSING DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Averil Rothrock, WSBA #24248
Allison K. Krashan, WSBA #36977
Christopher H. Howard, WSBA #11074
SCHWABE, WILLIAMSON & WYATT, P.C.
U.S. Bank Centre

III.	INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED		
IV.	RESTATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.3		
V.	COUNTER STATEMENT OF THE CASE		
VI.	BECA	JMENT: THIS COURT SHOULD DENY THE PETITION AUSE THE CRITERIA ASSERTED TO JUSTIFY EW—SUPPOSED "CONFLICTS"—ARE NOT MET	
	b.	No conflict exists based on the Division I <i>Powell</i> decisions because the sentence was not beyond the maximum allowed, i.e., was not "illegal"	
VII.	CONCLUSION1		
APPE		of Appeals Opinion	

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page(s)				
CASES				
1000 Virginia Ltd. P'ship v. Vertecs, 158 Wn.2d 566, 146 P.3d 423 (2006)9				
Ang v. Martin, 118 Wn. App. 553, 76 P.3d 787 (2003)2				
Ang v. Martin, 154 Wn.2d 477, 114 P.3d 637 (2005)passim				
Falkner v. Foshaug, 108 Wn. App. 113, 29 P.3d 771 (2001)2, 7, 8, 9, 10, 14				
Owens v. Harrison, 120 Wn. App. 909, 86 P.3d 1266 (2004)2, 8, 10, 14				
Powell v. Associated Counsel for the Accused ("Powell I"), 125 Wn. App. 773, 106 P.3d 271 (2005)11, 12, 14				
Powell v. Associated Counsel for the Accused, 155 Wn.2d 1024, 123 P.3d 120 (2005)12				
Powell v. Associated Counsel for the Accused ("Powell				
II"), 131 Wn. App. 810, 129 P.3d 831 (2006)12, 13, 14				
Powell v. Associated Counsel for the Accused ("Powell				
III"), 146 Wn. App. 242, 191 P.3d 896 (2008)12				
STATUTES				
RCW 9.94A.3604				
OTHER AUTHORITIES				
Civil Rule 56				
RAP 13.4(b)(1)6				
RAP 13.4(b)(2)6, 10				

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENTS

Respondents Society of Counsel Representing Accused Persons and Alfred Kitching and his marital community oppose discretionary review. These respondents will be referred to collectively as "SCRAP."

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals correctly applied settled Washington law to affirm the dismissal of Petitioner Piris's attorney malpractice claims against his public defenders on summary judgment in its March 9, 2015, published opinion *Piris v. Kitching*, ___ Wn. App. ___, 345 P.3d 13 (2015) (Cause No. 71054-1-I) (hereafter "the Opinion") (attached).

III, INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

In Ang v. Martin, 154 Wn.2d 477, 114 P.3d 637 (2005) ("Ang"), this Court endorsed the "actual innocence" requirement for criminal legal malpractice cases and established the law that resolves the present appeal. The actual innocence requirement obligates a criminal malpractice plaintiff to establish he was actually innocent of the underlying crime in order to blame his criminal defense attorney for the repercussions of his crime meted out by the justice system. Washington's Court of Appeals had been applying the requirement in numerous decisions before this

Court affirmed its application in Ang.¹ Petitioner Piris has never argued that he was innocent of the crimes to which he pled guilty: two counts of Rape of a Child in the First Degree. Petitioner Piris sued his criminal defense attorneys, nonetheless. *Stare decisis* supports affirmance of the dismissal of those claims based on the actual innocence requirement that this Court embraced in Ang. Review simply would retread ground that this Court laid down only ten years ago. Review, therefore, is unwarranted.

Petitioner Piris ostensibly argues that the Opinion is inconsistent with Ang and a Division I case applying it. Not true. The argument fails upon examination of the Opinion, which is consistent with these precedents. Petitioner Piris asserts only "conflict of decisions" as a basis for review. There being no conflict, this Court should deny the Petition.

The Petition does not ask this Court to modify Ang or the actual innocence requirement. In other words, Petitioner Piris declined to argue a good faith basis for change of the law. His Petition, therefore, offers no reason to reexamine the actual innocence requirement endorsed by this Court only ten years ago. The Court should deny review because its

Published appellate decisions applying the actual innocence requirement prior to *Ang* include *Falkner v. Foshaug*, 108 Wn. App. 113, 29 P.3d 771 (2001); *Owens v. Harrison*, 120 Wn. App. 909, 86 P.3d 1266 (2004); *Ang v. Martin*, 118 Wn. App. 553, 76 P.3d 787 (2003).

resources are better applied to unresolved legal issues. This one is resolved.

IV. RESTATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did the trial court correctly grant summary judgment dismissing Petitioner Piris's legal malpractice claims against his criminal defense attorneys because (1) he did not meet his burden under Ang to establish actual innocence of the underlying crime and (2) his claims do not fall outside of Ang into the very limited circumstances of Powell v. Associated Counsel for the Accused given that his sentence was not beyond the maximum sentence permitted by Washington law for the crimes for which he pled guilty?

V. COUNTER STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged Petitioner Piris in 1997 with three counts of Rape of a Child in the First Degree. CP 141. Public defender SCRAP represented Petitioner Piris in the trial court proceedings. CP 21, 29.

Petitioner Piris pled guilty to two counts of Rape of a Child in the First Degree; one count was dropped. CP 36. The maximum sentence for the crimes to which Petitioner Piris pleaded guilty was life imprisonment and a fine of \$50,000. CP 30. Judge Charles Mertel in May 1999 heard the testimony regarding the abuse inflicted by Petitioner Piris on his stepbrother. CP 68. Judge Mertel sentenced Petitioner Piris to 159 months of

confinement for both counts concurrently. CP 57.

SCRAP timely appealed this sentence. CP 77. Appointed appellate attorney Eric Nielsen argued on appeal that the offender score and corresponding standard sentencing range had been incorrect. CP 79, 85. He argued that Petitioner Piris's offender score was incorrectly calculated by utilizing the current version of RCW 9.94A.360 instead of the version in effect at the time Petitioner Piris committed the crimes. CP 85.

The Court of Appeals agreed, finding that by calculating Petitioner Piris's offender score under the version in effect when Petitioner Piris committed his crimes, he had an offender score of 6 instead of 7. CP 93. With an offender score of 7, Petitioner Piris's crimes carried a standard sentencing range of 159 to 211 months. CP 92. With the corrected offender score of 6, Petitioner Piris's crimes carried a standard sentencing range of 146 to 194 months. CP 93. The sentence of 159 months falls within both the original range and the corrected range. *Id*.

The Court of Appeals remanded the case for resentencing. CP 93. However, no resentencing was scheduled. Interrogatories show that Mr. Nielsen sent the decision to Petitioner Piris consistent with his habit and custom. CP 98-99 at Rog 4. Court of Appeals records show the decision was sent to Petitioner Piris. CP 91. The record contains no evidence that

Petitioner Piris lacked knowledge of the resentencing directive or why resentencing never occurred.

Petitioner Piris later was released from incarceration on or around August 3, 2010. CP 136. The record does not identify the length of time of Petitioner Piris's incarceration for the crimes to which he pled guilty—a major evidentiary failure in Petitioner Piris's opposition to summary judgment. The record indicates that Petitioner Piris served somewhere between 137 and 154 months.² The Petition repeatedly makes unsupported assertions that Petitioner Piris never learned about the remand for resentencing and regarding how long Petitioner Piris served.

When Petitioner Piris violated a condition of his release from custody and a hearing was held in May 2012 to address this violation, it was discovered that he was never resentenced. CP 153. At this time, Judge Bradshaw resentenced Petitioner Piris to 146 months of confinement for both counts concurrently. CP 196-201.

Petitioner Piris initiated this malpractice action in March 2013 alleging that his prior attorneys committed legal malpractice during their representation of him in the criminal proceedings. CP 154. Petitioner

² Between the date of sentencing and the date of his release, Petitioner Piris spent approximately 137 months in custody. At the time of his sentencing, however, he had already been incarcerated for somewhere between 133 days (4.5 months) and 17 months, but some of this time may relate to other charges or convictions. CP 5, 69, 72-73.

Piris added King County to this lawsuit regarding the Office of Public Defense's failure to schedule a resentencing. *See* CP 20-24.

All defendants moved for summary judgment. CP 1-14 (Nielsen's Motion); CP 144-45 (Kitching's Joinder); CP 148-50 (King County's Joinder).

The Honorable Richard Edie granted summary judgment to the defendants, citing Ang. CP 248-50.

VI. ARGUMENT: THIS COURT SHOULD DENY THE PETITION BECAUSE THE CRITERIA ASSERTED TO JUSTIFY REVIEW—SUPPOSED "CONFLICTS"—ARE NOT MET.

Review is unwarranted. The Petition fails to establish any criteria supporting review. The Petition asserts under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) conflicts between the Opinion and prior appellate decisions. There are no such conflicts. *Stare decisis* requires affirmance and demonstrates that review would serve only to duplicate this Court's effort ten years ago when it adopted the actual innocence requirement. This Court should deny the Petition.

a. No conflict exists because this Court in its 2005 Ang decision established the law on which the Court of Appeals relied to affirm: this area of law is settled.

This Court has adopted the actual innocence requirement, establishing that actual innocence is an essential element of a legal malpractice claim arising from an attorney's representation of a client in

criminal proceedings. *Ang*, 154 Wn.2d at 482-83 (adopting the rule and approving *Falkner v. Foshaug*, 108 Wn. App. 113, 29 P.3d 771 (2001)). The trial court relied on *Ang* when it dismissed the claims on summary judgment. CP 248-50. The Court of Appeals relied on *Ang* when it affirmed. Opinion 5-9. No conflict with *Ang* justifies review, contrary to Petitioner Piris's argument. *See* Petition, V.B.

This Court explained that the actual innocence requirement is essential to demonstrate proximate cause in a criminal law malpractice claim, explaining the rationale as follows:

[P]roving actual innocence, not simply legal innocence, is essential to proving proximate causation, both cause in fact and legal causation. Falkner, 108 Wn. App. at 115 (noting that criminal malpractice plaintiff must prove that "deficient representation, not his illegal acts . . . [was] the proximate cause" of harm). Unless criminal malpractice plaintiffs can prove by a preponderance of the evidence their actual innocence of the charges, their own bad acts, not the alleged negligence of defense counsel, should be regarded as the cause in fact of their harm. Likewise, if criminal malpractice plaintiffs cannot prove their actual innocence under the civil standard, they will be unable to establish. light of significant public considerations, that the alleged negligence of their defense counsel was the legal cause of their harm.

Ang at 484-85. The innocence requirement prevents criminal malpractice plaintiffs from blaming their attorneys when their own bad acts were the cause of their predicament within the criminal justice system. Criminal malpractice plaintiffs can satisfy the necessary elements of cause in fact

and legal cause by showing actual innocence. Such a showing will justify supplanting their own responsibility and holding their attorneys accountable for the harm. Without such a showing, Washington law views the bad acts of the criminals as the cause of their harm.

The innocence requirement is premised on several policy objectives that this Court explored in detail only ten years ago. These important objectives include preventing criminals from benefiting from their own bad acts and preventing a flood of nuisance litigation from criminals who believe they could have gotten a better deal. When this Court adopted the rule, both Division I and Division II of the Court of Appeals had been applying it. See Falkner v. Foshaug, supra (Div I); Owens v. Harrison, supra (Div II). This Court approved the Court of Appeals' rationale that "[r]equiring a defendant to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that he is innocent of the charges against him will prohibit criminals from benefiting from their own bad acts, maintain respect for our criminal justice system's procedural protections, remove the harmful chilling effect on the defense bar, prevent suits from criminals who 'may be guilty, [but] could have gotten a better deal,' and prevent a flood of nuisance litigation." Ang at 485, citing Falkner, 108 Wn. App. at 123-24.

Before the Court of Appeals in Falkner endorsed the actual

innocence requirement, it surveyed application of the rule in California, Illinois, Massachusetts, Nevada, and New York. *Falkner*, 108 Wn. App. at 119 n. 12. It agreed with the reasoning of these jurisdictions that had adopted the innocence requirement. *Id.* By the time this Court approved *Falkner*, it identified the jurisdictions of Missouri, Pennsylvania, New Hampshire, Nebraska, Florida and Wisconsin as also imposing an actual innocence requirement. 154 Wn.2d at 483 n. 4.

In this case, Petitioner Piris is a criminal who pled guilty. He attempted to disregard *Ang* and sue over a "could have gotten a better deal" situation. This Court has held that such a legal malpractice claim is legally deficient. His case was appropriately dismissed on summary judgment. The Court of Appeals appropriately affirmed that judgment.

Ang is a blanket rule. The Court did not go incrementally, adopting the innocence requirement only for certain types of errors and leaving open the question whether other types of errors should qualify. Cf. 1000 Virginia Ltd. P'ship v. Vertecs, 158 Wn.2d 566, 576-80, 146 P.3d 423 (2006) (adopting discovery rule incrementally for certain types of cases such as, in this case, breach of contract claims for latent construction defects). Rather, the Court adopted the requirement for all legal malpractice actions against criminal defense attorneys.

The innocence requirement in Washington is not confined to

criminal malpractice claims involving the guilt phase of a criminal representation. For example, in *Owens v. Harrison*, the malpractice plaintiff sought to show that the innocence requirement should not apply where counsel allegedly failed to fully and timely counsel him regarding a plea offer. *Owens v. Harrison*, 120 Wn. App. 909, 914-15, 86 P.3d 1266 (2004). The malpractice plaintiff attempted to rely upon out of state authority to support that argument. *Id.* The court in *Owens* noted that the cited authorities did not address the public policy rationale upon which the innocence requirement had been adopted in *Falkner*. *Id.* The specific public policy reasons behind Washington's innocence requirement apply no matter the particular posture in which the negligence occurred. *Id.* The *Owens* court declined to qualify the innocence requirement based on the act of negligence or phase of representation in which the alleged negligence occurred. *Id.*

There should be no doubt that Ang and Falkner control the issue presented here. Under Ang and Falkner, there could be no result other than that reached in the Opinion: affirmance.

b. No conflict exists based on the Division I *Powell* decisions because the sentence was not beyond the maximum allowed, i.e., was not "illegal"

Petitioner Piris fails to state an issue qualifying for review under RAP 13.4(b)(2) for conflict with a Court of Appeals decision. Contrary to

Petitioner Piris's argument, see Petition V.A., the affirmance does not conflict with Division I's *Powell* decisions, as Division I itself demonstrated in its analysis. See Opinion 8-13. Petitioner Piris distorts the record and the law when he asserts that his sentence was "illegal." It was not.

Petitioner Piris's original sentence was within the maximum term allowed by statute and Petitioner Piris did not serve a sentence beyond the correct maximum term allowed by statute. The maximum term was life. CP 30. Petitioner Piris was released. He did not receive or serve a sentence beyond the maximum. Further, the appellate court reviewing Petitioner Piris's original sentence determined that the correct standard sentencing range for his crimes was 146 to 194 months. CP 93. Petitioner Piris's original sentence of 159 months was on the low end of this correct standard sentence range. CP 57. His sentence was legal.

Petitioner Piris provides no authority for the proposition that his original sentence of 159 months is an "illegal" sentence. Such authority does not exist. In fact, such authority would create an absurd result by establishing that sentences within the standard range are "illegal." The fact that a judge had discretion to have awarded less does not make the sentence "illegal." Petitioner Piris's claim is a "could have had a better deal" claim, the type this Court expressly rejected in *Ang*.

Because of these facts, this Court need not plumb the depths of the successive *Powell* decisions by the Court of Appeals. Petitioner Piris's contention fails in the first place. Even if the Court closely examines the Powell decisions, no conflict exists. Piris's case is factually distinguishable from the allegations addressed in Powell's case. In Powell I, the trial court had dismissed under CR 12(b)—not CR 56 as in this case—the plaintiff's malpractice claim alleging that he was sentenced to, and served, an illegal sentence for a felony crime instead of a misdemeanor crime because of his public defender's negligence. Powell v. Associated Counsel for the Accused, 125 Wn. App. 773, 774, 106 P.3d 271 (2005) ("Powell I"). In a CR 12(b) posture, the Court of Appeals accepted these allegations as true (it turned out later, they were not true).³ The Court reversed the dismissal on the ground that "Powell has served substantially more time than the trial court was authorized to impose for a gross misdemeanor." Powell I at 777 (emphasis added).

Shortly after *Powell I*, the Supreme Court decided *Ang*. It returned the pending petition for review from *Powell I* to the Court of Appeals, directing reconsideration in light of *Ang*. *Powell v. Associated Counsel*

³ After reversal and remand as a result of *Powell I* and *II*, it was proven on summary judgment that Mr. Powell had been sentenced appropriately for a misdemeanor. The summary judgment based on these true facts—as opposed to the allegations relied upon in *Powell I* and *II*—was affirmed. *See* 146 Wn. App. 242, 191 P.3d 896 (2008) ("*Powell III*").

for the Accused, 155 Wn.2d 1024, 123 P.3d 120 (2005). On reconsideration, Division I clarified that its decision did not fall within Ang because of "very limited" circumstances. See Powell v. Associated Counsel for the Accused, 131 Wn. App. 810, 815, 129 P.3d 831, 833 (2006) (Powell II). The Court first stressed that Mr. Powell allegedly was "sentenced to a term substantially longer than the maximum term allowed by statute, and the defendant actually served time in prison beyond the correct maximum term." (emphasis added) Id. The Court reasoned that in such circumstances, the concerns underlying the innocence rule are not present because the criminal defendant cannot be responsible for a predicament that exceeds the bounds of the criminal justice system. Id. The Court then emphasized that only in such a very limited situation could the defendant overcome the rule of Ang, stating:

Therefore, under the facts of this case, we adopt a very limited exception to the rule requiring proof of actual innocence in a legal malpractice case stemming from a criminal matter.

Id. The Court of Appeals clearly signaled that these circumstances outside the reach of Ang are very limited.

Powell II demonstrates that the innocence requirement is inapplicable only in the very unusual situation where a plaintiff can show that he or she was sentenced to and actually served time "beyond the

correct maximum term." This unusual situation does not include a "could have gotten a better deal" claim like Petitioner Piris's. Petitioner Piris never received a sentence beyond the maximum term of life. Petitioner Piris never even received a sentence beyond the correct standard sentencing range. Petition Piris has only brought a claim for damages for having served a longer legal sentence than he might have served. This legal malpractice claim cannot be pursued absent actual innocence. Powell I and II state nothing to the contrary. The Court of Appeals was correct to distinguish Mr. Piris's claims from the circumstances of Powell I and II. Opinion 8-13. Mr. Piris does not assert a legitimate conflict of appellate decisions; he simply dislikes the Court of Appeals' application of settled law to his case.

The Court of Appeals was not misled by Petitioner Piris's incorrect argument that his sentence was "illegal" as Mr. Powell's allegedly was. Petitioner Piris's sentence was legal. It was within the maximum term of life for the crimes he committed and within the correct standard sentence range based upon his correct offender score. *Powell I* and *II* do not save Petitioner Piris's claims from dismissal, and are not contrary to the Opinion.

VII. CONCLUSION

Petitioner Piris offers no adequate basis for review by this Court.

No conflict of decisions exists. Ang, Falkner, Owens, and the Powell decisions support affirmance. Petitioner Piris has not argued for this Court to alter Ang. Consistent with this tactical approach, Petitioner Piris has offered no facts or rationale to show why Ang was wrong or that changed circumstances should cause this Court to reconsider Ang. To the contrary, the Petition relies on the validity of Ang and only asserts that the Opinion is inconsistent with it. But it is not. The Court should deny review on the basis that controlling authority already exists, all of which is consistent with the Opinion.